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Introduction 

A joint excavation by the Group and the Whalley and District Historical and 

Archaeological Society of a section of the earthworks was carried out between 26th 

August and 10th September 1986.  The purpose of the intervention was to investigate 

the vallum earthwork together with a bank bounding the site to the west. The site was 

situated to the west of the viaduct opposite the sixteenth arch counted from the north 

end at SD729364.  The excavation was carried out during a period of wet weather. 

Historical Background 

The authors of the Victoria County History considered that the earthworks were the 

outer defences of the Abbey1.  If this view is accepted then the earthworks must have 

been constructed sometime after 1290 when the monks left Stanlaw on the Mersey in 

Cheshire to found the Abbey at Whalley.   

In 1961, R. B. Smith in his fine paper on the early development of Blackburnshire, 

suggested that the earthwork could pre-date the Abbey2.  He also put forward the view 

that archaeological survey would be the only way of solving this `local mystery`.  It is 

sad to report that within five years of Smith`s article over a third of the `trench` was 

buried under the Abbeyfields development. 

It is difficult to relate the extent of the earthwork to the Abbey in any way.  It is probable 

that the Abbey was built over the south eastern section and could well have used the 

ditch for drainage purposes. 

The area enclosed by the earthwork is approximately 30 acres and represented a 

massive investment of time and labour totally outside the capabilities of the Abbey.  

There can be no doubt that the earthwork predates the Abbey.  However, it is probable 

that the monks made use of the earthwork and were possibly responsible for the 

additional trenches which were cut and are now concealed with it. 

A bank to the west of the viaduct and earthwork is considered to be prehistoric and 

not thought to relate to the feature. 

A report on `The Whalley Earthworks – a field study` by Philip G. Dixon and John L. 

Dixon is included as an appendix. 

Broad Lane to the west of the site is of some age and could date from the 14th century 

(pers. comm. Joy Davenport following hedge count).  The western hedge is of 19th 
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century date and the original western boundary of the road, at over twice the width, is 

further to the west hence its name - Broad Lane.  It was reduced in width around 1800. 

The railway viaduct of 49 arches was completed in 1850 for the Blackburn and Bolton 

Railway Company.   

Resistivity Survey 

A resistivity survey was carried out in 1986 by Alan J Clint and Brian Robinson prior 

to the excavation.  The result of the survey was not conclusive. 

Description 

The top soil was stripped off the whole of the trench and a band of clay was seen to 

run across the top of the western bank and down the side of the trench for a distance 

of 10 metres.  At this point it ran out of the trench.  This feature was later seen to be a 

trench for an electricity cable. 

The earthwork vallum ditch was seen as a dark brown linear feature approximately 10` 

0” (3.00m) wide, with fill comprising dark humic material with lumps of clay and brick 

similar to that used in the re-facing of the viaduct some 20 years ago.  Below this fill 

was a grey clay layer containing charcoal brick fragments and coal lying over a stone 

drain cut into the centre of the ditch.  This was constructed with a stone flag bottom, 

stone walls to the side and a stone flag top and seen to be filled with silt.  To either 

side of the drain within the vallum was a dark loam containing organic material 

overlying layers of brushwood.  The depth of this brushwood was not established due 

to unfavourable weather conditions and standing water  However, it was seen to run 

under the east bank and found to stop short of the west bank.  Further site investigation 

identified a drain running the length of the viaduct on the eastern side, A sherd of late 

medieval pottery was found in this context.  

The inner east bank was seen to comprise yellow clay overlaid with a spread of 

pebbles on its western side forming a road surface to run between the vallum and the 

viaduct.  The top of the bank was truncated and would appear to have been levelled. 

Below this was seen a layer of grey clay and pebbles overlying a dense brown clay 

which in turn was placed over a layer of brushwood.  

The western bank was seen to be formed of a brown/yellow clay with 5% river worn 

stones.  Particles of charcoal were present in the yellow clay.  This upper layer was 

laid over a layer of dense, grey clay. The line of the eastern demarcation of the western 

bank was defined with a spread of stones increasing in size to the edge.   

Finds 

A fine flint barbed and tanged arrow head found in the top soil to the west bank. 

Fragment of flint. 

Piece of late medieval pottery. 

Various 19th century pottery fragments. 

. 

 



3 
 

 

Conclusion 

The line of the viaduct passed over wet, boggy land to the north of the river.  In view 

of the nature of the ground a stone drain was laid either side of the viaduct to discharge 

in the river.  In the case of the western side the drain was laid in the centre of the 

vallum earthwork, which may have dictated the line of the viaduct.  A layer of 

Brushwood was spread on the boggy ground between the drains and covered a layer 

of yellow clay to form an access road to each side and a firm base for the brick arches. 

Due to the insertion of a drain into the centre of the vallum earthwork and the depth of 

standing water in the trench it was not possible to determine any further details except 

to say that it would have formed a significant feature when completed.  

The bank to the west of the site is of prehistoric date and could have had ditches cut 

to the west of the bank. 

Broad Lane is of early date and was reduced to around half its original width around 

1800. 

 

Notes 

1. Victoria County History, Lancashire, vol. 2, 552. 

2. Smith, R. B., 1961, Blackburnshire – A Study in Early Lancashire History` Dept. of 

English Local History, Leicester university, 40. 
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  Site Plan 

 

 

The site looking from west to east. The vallum earthwork is seen as the dark brown 

soil colour with the road beyond. 
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 Map showing the earthworks 


